THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In the Supreme Court

**RECEIVED**

**Mar 10 2023**

**S.C. SUPREME COURT**

Appeal from the South Carolina  
Worker's Compensation Commission

Appellate Case No. 2022-000519

Opinion No. 2022-UP-081  
(S.C. Ct. App. filed February 23, 2022)

Gena Cain Davis, Claimant,.....Respondent,

v.

S.C. Department of Corrections, Employer, and  
State Accident Fund, Carrier,.....Petitioners.

---

**BRIEF OF THE PETITIONERS**

---

Kirsten Leslie Barr, #15525  
Trask & Howell, L.L.C.  
P.O. Box 2167  
Mt. Pleasant, SC 29465  
(843) 881-4228  
Attorneys for Petitioners

**

### **Questions Presented**

- I. Did the Court of Appeals err as a matter of law by assuming appellate jurisdiction to review and reverse an interlocutory decision of the Workers' Compensation Commission?
- II. Did the Court of Appeals err as a matter of law in concluding that the Workers' Compensation Commission lacked authority to review the Hearing Commissioner's decision pursuant to S.C. Code Reg. 67-701?
- III. Did the Workers' Compensation Commission's Appellate Panel properly reverse the Hearing Commissioner's Order, which was rendered upon unlawful procedure, without authority or jurisdiction, and prejudicial to the Petitioners' right of due process?
- IV. Did the Workers' Compensation Commission's Appellate Panel properly find and conclude that Davis unilaterally and unconditionally withdrew her claim by notice?
- V. Did the Court of Appeals err as a matter of law in ordering a remand to the Workers' Compensation Commission when no issues germane to the appeal are pending?

### **Statement of the Case**

Gena Cain Davis alleges she sustained injuries on July 14, 2016, while working for the South Carolina Department of Corrections.<sup>1</sup> By Form 50 dated October 19, 2016, Davis requested a workers' compensation hearing to determine her entitlement to medical benefits. (A. p.22). After a hearing was scheduled, discovery was completed, and pre-hearing briefs were

---

<sup>1</sup> A Form 50, establishing the claim, was filed on July 28, 2016; however, no hearing was requested until October 19, 2016. (A. pp.21—22).

filed, Davis voluntarily withdrew her hearing request (Form 50) on February 6, 2017, following an expert witness deposition that proved detrimental to her position. (A. pp.26—29; pp.140, l. 62; p.18 #1; p.87, ¶6).

By Form 50 dated April 13, 2017, Davis filed her hearing request a second time, again raising the very same issues raised in the October 19, 2016, Form 50. (A. p.33). A second hearing on these same issues was scheduled for July 19, 2017. (A. p.41). The Petitioners moved to postpone the July 19, 2017, hearing in order to depose a new expert belatedly obtained by Davis. (A. pp.42--44). Davis did not object to a continuance and the motion was granted. (A. p.88, ¶5; p.1). At that time, the hearing on Davis's April 18, 2017, Form 50 was rescheduled for October 24, 2017. (A. p.45). Davis filed pre-hearing briefs on July 6, 2017, and October 6, 2017, neither of which make any suggestion that her discovery was incomplete, that additional time was needed, that the matter should be postponed, or that the hearing scheduled for October 24, 2017, was in any way premature. (A.p.46).

During a pre-hearing conference before Hearing Commissioner R. Michael Campbell, II, on October 24, 2017, Davis informed the Petitioners and the Commission that she was withdrawing her second Form 50 hearing request because she did not have the medical evidence required by the plain language of S.C. Code Ann. § 42-15-60 to support her claim and asked that the hearing be cancelled.<sup>2</sup> (A. p.6, ¶1; p.82). Davis did not request postponement or adjournment

---

<sup>2</sup> Davis's attorney later argued that he was unaware of the statutory burden imposed by the plain language of S.C. Code Ann. § 42-15-60, alleging Davis could not have known of her statutory burden of proof until the Supreme Court issued its decision in the case of Hartzell v. Palmetto Collision, 419 S.C. 87, 796 S.E.2d 145 (Ct. App. 2016). However, the Hartzell case merely applied the plain language of a statute enacted in 2007. Furthermore, the Hartzell case was decided by the Supreme Court in September 2016, more than one year prior to the scheduled hearing in the case *sub judice*. Davis's argument that she was unaware of her burden of proof under S.C. Code Ann. § 42-15-60 or Hartzell is; therefore, specious. (A. p.82).

of the hearing and she made no request for consent by the Petitioners, or approval from the Hearing Commissioner, to withdraw her Form 50 a second time without prejudice to her right to proceed with the claim (or to file a third hearing request in the future). At the pre-hearing conference, the Hearing Commissioner made no ruling and otherwise made no mention of the issues of prejudice, good cause, or delay. These issues simply were not raised by Davis, or ruled upon by the Hearing Commissioner, on October 24, 2017, and Davis admits that neither “prejudice,” nor “good cause,” were even discussed. (A. p.138, ll.15--22). At Davis’s request, no documentary evidence was received, or testimony was taken on October 24, 2017. (A.p.6). The parties did not even enter arguments on the record.<sup>3</sup> (A. p.6). Thereafter, on October 30, 2017, the Commission formally documented that Davis’s second Form 50 hearing request had simply been “withdrawn.” (A. p.139).

On November 9, 2017, Davis’s attorney submitted a proposed order and *sua sponte* included a ruling that “the Claimant was allowed to withdraw the Form 50 without prejudice.”<sup>4</sup> (A. p.82). The Petitioners objected to the proposed order, as “prejudice” was never raised by Davis, or addressed by the Hearing Commissioner, and the issue was not properly before the Hearing Commissioner after the Form 50 was voluntarily withdrawn on October 24, 2017. (A. p.79; p.101; p.104; p.107). Davis admitted that the issue had not been raised or ruled upon at the

---

<sup>3</sup> At a pre-hearing conference on October 24, 2017, Davis also argued that the Petitioners’ Form 21, which had been filed in accordance with S.C. Code Reg. 67-505(F), was not properly before the Commission. The Hearing Commissioner agreed.

<sup>4</sup> By email dated November 2, 2017, the Hearing Commissioner’s administrative assistant inquired about Davis’s attorney drafting a proposed order regarding the dismissal of the Form 21. (A. p.77). The request for proposed order makes no mention of the Form 50 withdrawal. (A. p.77).

pre-hearing conference on October 24, 2017, but nevertheless she began arguing the matter *via* e-mail in the weeks after the hearing was cancelled. (A. p.82, p.138, ll.15--22).

On November 9, 2017 – 17 days after voluntarily withdrawing her Form 50 hearing request for a second time – Davis informed the Hearing Commissioner that “[t]his matter has become more complicated than initially realized at the Hearing ....” (A. p.82). Davis argued that the Hearing Commissioner should allow her to somehow retroactively withdraw the April 13, 2017, Form 50 she had already withdrawn, but this time without prejudice and with leave to refile. (A. p.82). The Petitioners again objected to Davis’s untimely request more than two weeks after the Form 50 was withdrawn for a second time, not only because the request was without merit, but because the Hearing Commissioner had no proper motion before him, because no hearing request was pending, and because the Hearing Commissioner otherwise lacked the authority or jurisdiction to adjudicate the issue. (A. p.79; p.101; p.104; p.107). In addition, the Petitioners argued that it was prejudicial to their right of due process to allow Davis to make new arguments without proper notice and adequate opportunity to be heard on these novel issues, which had not been raised prior to the actual withdrawal of the second Form 50 or in the weeks thereafter. (A. p.101).

The Hearing Commissioner issued an Order dated November 14, 2017, with a conclusory finding that Davis’s second Form 50 hearing request had been withdrawn “without prejudice.” (A. p.3). The Hearing Commissioner failed to make any findings of fact or conclusions of law and otherwise failed to elucidate any factual or legal basis for his ruling. (A. p.3).

On November 20, 2017, the Petitioners filed a Form 30 request for review by the Workers’ Compensation Commission’s Appellate Panel pursuant to S.C. Code Reg. 67-701. (A. p.60). By their Form 30, the Petitioners argued that the Hearing Commissioner’s Order is

unsupported by the evidence in the record, contrary to the applicable law, impermissibly vague, and was otherwise made upon unlawful procedure and in excess of legal authority. (A. pp.60—64; pp.67—84). By Order dated March 5, 2019, (A. pp.6—20), the Appellate Panel reversed the Hearing Commissioner’s Order and found that

“[t]he hearing was cancelled by the Hearing Commissioner on October 24, 2017 prior to going on the record, after which time the Hearing Commissioner’s authority and jurisdiction to adjudicate this claim ended.” (A. p.19, #7).

The Appellate Panel went on to conclude that Davis “voluntarily withdrew her first Form 50 dated October 21, 2016, on February 8, 2017, pursuant to S.C. Code Reg. 67-609(A);” that Davis “voluntarily withdrew her second Form 50 dated April 18, 2017, on October 24, 2017, pursuant to S.C. Code Reg. 67-609(C);” and that

“[a]fter second Form 50 was withdrawn and the Form 21 hearing was cancelled, the Hearing Commissioner was divested of jurisdiction and authority to entertain or adjudicate further arguments regarding this claim.” (A. p. 19, #1, #4, #6).

Davis filed a Notice of Appeal to the Court of Appeals on April 4, 2019. (A. p.110).

In their Brief to the Court of Appeals, the Petitioners argued that the Appellate Panel’s Order dated March 5, 2019, is not immediately reviewable pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380. (A. pp.190—193). The Court of Appeals failed to address this argument. The March 23,

2022<sup>5</sup>, Order of the Court of Appeals makes no mention of S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380 or the authority by which it asserted appellate jurisdiction. (A. p.242). Instead, by its Order dated March 23, 2022, the Court of Appeals reinstated the Hearing Commissioner's decision -- without addressing its many shortcomings -- and concluded that the Workers' Compensation Commission's Appellate Panel did not have authority to administratively review the decision of Hearing Commissioner Campbell because, in the opinion of the Court of Appeals, that decision did not involve "important issues." The Court of Appeals remanded the claim "for proceedings consistent" with its opinion; however, the Court failed to elucidate what issues were to be considered on remand, by whom, and upon what authority.

According to the Order denying the Petition for Rehearing dated March 28, 2022, the Court of Appeals "[i]n an effort to clarify the mandate," further ordered that

"the claim is remanded to the commission to proceed with whatever fillings and hearing requests are pending, if any." (A. p.247).

The Court of Appeals also acknowledged the Petitioner's due process and other substantive arguments for the first time in the March 28, 2022, Order but instead of addressing the merits of these arguments, concluded

---

<sup>5</sup> The date on the Court's decision is an obvious typographical error, as it was issued on February 23, 2022.

“nothing prevents [the Petitioners] from asserting at a future hearing that the single commissioner’s decision was in error or that the claimant’s Form 50 was withdrawn for the sole purpose of delay.” (A. p.247).

Apparently, the Court of Appeals now endorses a procedural quagmire whereby intermediate review is forbidden and collateral attack is preferred.

Pursuant to Rule 242, S.C.A.C.R., the Petitioners, the South Carolina Department of Corrections and the South Carolina State Accident Fund, requested that the Supreme Court issue a Writ of Certiorari to review the Opinion of the Court of Appeals dated March 23, 2022, and the Order denying the Petition for Rehearing dated March 28, 2022. The Petition for Writ of Certiorari was granted by the Supreme Court on February 10, 2023.

The Petitioners respectfully contend that the Court of Appeals lacked appellate jurisdiction under the plain terms of the Administrative Procedures Act, as interpreted by the South Carolina Supreme Court, and the Orders of the Court of Appeals dated March 23, 2022, and March 28, 2022, should be reversed and vacated. Even if the Court of Appeals could properly exercise appellate jurisdiction under S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380, the Petitioners further contend that the Court of Appeals did not have authority to reverse the March 5, 2019, Order of the South Carolina Workers’ Compensation Commission pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380(5) because the Order does not affect any “substantial right,” as it neither awards, nor denies, any benefits to the Davis, who has twice requested that a hearing on the merits be cancelled because she lacked sufficient evidence to prove her claim under the Workers’ Compensation Act.

In addition, Petitioners respectfully contend that the Court of Appeals erred in its interpretation and application of S.C. Code Ann. § 42-17-50, by failing to give the Workers’

Compensation Commission any deference in its construction of that statute and by refusing to accord S.C. Code Reg. 67-701 the full force and effect of law. The Court of Appeals further erred in reinstating the Hearing Commissioner's Order that was reversed by the Commission's Appellate Panel on the basis that it is an unlawful order rendered in excess of authority and jurisdiction to the prejudice of the Petitioners' right to due process. In addition, the suggestion by the Court of Appeals that the Petitioners may collaterally attack the Hearing Commissioner's November 14, 2017, Order is not only untenable, but creates unnecessary confusion, delay and, quite possibly, inconsistent orders necessitating further appeals. Therefore, the Petitioners respectfully request that the Supreme Court reverse and vacate the Orders of the Court of Appeals and issue an order dismissing Davis's appeal from the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission.

### Arguments

I. **The Court of Appeals lacked appellate jurisdiction to review the interlocutory decision of the Workers' Compensation Commission.**

The March 5, 2019, Order of the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission's Appellate Panel reversed the November 14, 2017, decision by Hearing Commissioner R. Michael Campbell, II, on the basis that the November 14, 2017, Order addressed issues that were not properly before the Hearing Commissioner and that the Hearing Commissioner otherwise had no authority or jurisdiction to address. The Appellate Panel's Order neither awarded, nor denied, any workers' compensation benefits and did not finally decide any issue. Indeed, no

evidentiary hearing has ever been held, as the Claimant/Employee, Davis, has twice withdrawn her own hearing request, being ill-prepared to prove her case on the merits.<sup>6</sup>

Appeals from the Workers' Compensation Commission are governed by the Administrative Procedures Act. Lark v. Bi-Lo, 276 S.C. 130, 276 S.E.2d 304 (1981). Specifically, S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380 only authorizes judicial review of a "final decision" of an administrative agency, unless "review of the final agency decision would not provide an adequate remedy." A "final" decision is one that "disposes of the whole subject matter of the action ... leaving nothing to be done but to enforce by execution what has been determined." Charlotte-Mecklenburg Hosp. Auth. v. S.C. Dep't of Health & Envtl. Control, 387 S.C. 265, 267, 692 S.E.2d 894, 895 (2010) (internal citation omitted). Because the Workers' Compensation Commission's March 5, 2019, Order is not a "final" decision, and because there is no risk that review of some "final" agency decision in the future would not provide Davis with an adequate remedy<sup>7</sup>, the Court of Appeals lacked authority or jurisdiction to review the Appellate Panel's Order pursuant to the plain terms of S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380.

---

<sup>6</sup> To the extent that the effects of Davis's voluntary, unilateral actions on October 24, 2017, are final, that result rests on Davis alone and not on any decision by the Appellate Panel that would render it a "final decision" under S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380.

<sup>7</sup> See Russell v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., 426 S.C. 281, 826 S.E.2d 864 (2019) (finding that "the commission's unreasonable delay in making a final decision" left the Appellant "without an adequate remedy on appeal from a final decision under section 1-23-380"). In the present case, Davis is solely responsible for any delay in a final decision, having twice asked the Commission to cancel hearings on the merits and having filed the present, interlocutory, appeal, and there is no danger of an inadequate remedy. (A. pp.12—16).

Importantly, this is more than a question of appellate jurisdiction under the statute because the Workers' Compensation Commission is part of the Executive Branch of government. As the South Carolina Supreme Court has recently explained,

“[b]eyond the statutory requirement for a final decision, respect for separation of powers demand that judicial review of an administrative decision not occur until the decision ... is truly final.” Torrence v. S.C. Dept. of Corrections, 433 S.C. 224, 857 S.E.2d 549 (2021).

Based on the plain language of S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380 and respectful consideration for the separation of powers, the decision of the Court of Appeals should be vacated, and the appeal dismissed.

Though the issue was clearly raised by the Petitioners, the Court of Appeals failed to elucidate the basis upon which it assumed appellate jurisdiction. (A. pp.190—193). The opinion of the Court of Appeals makes no mention of S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380 and identifies no exception to the general rule requiring a “final decision,” ostensibly because none exists. As explained by former Chief Justice Pleicones, circumstances

“that will permit the immediate appeal of an interlocutory administrative decision under section 1-23-380(A) ‘are about as rare as proverbial hens’ teeth.’” Hilton v. Flakeboard America, Ltd., 418 S.C. 245, 791 S.E.2d 719 (2016).

However, there can be no question that the Workers' Compensation Commission's March 5, 2019, Order does not "decide the merits" of the case and no other circumstance justifies the assumption of appellate jurisdiction by the Court of Appeals. Therefore, the Petitioners respectfully request that the Supreme Court vacate the decision of the Court of Appeals and dismiss the appeal in accordance with the mandates of S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380 and firmly established precedent, including the very cases cited, but wrongly applied, by the Court of Appeals.

**II. The Court of Appeals erred in concluding that the Workers' Compensation Commission lacks authority to review the Hearing Commissioner's decision.**

The Court of Appeals, by engaging in an unduly restrictive interpretation of S.C. Code Ann. § 42-17-50, by failing to give the Workers' Compensation Commission any deference in its construction of that statute, and by refusing to accord S.C. Code Reg. 67-701 the full force and effect of law, determined that the Appellate Panel had no authority to immediately review a Hearing Commissioner's decision that was improperly issued without jurisdiction or authority. Under S.C. Code Ann. § 42-17-50, the Appellate Panel has authority to review an "award" of a Hearing Commissioner. While it is true (as the Court of Appeals noted) that "[t]he Code does not define award," the Worker's Compensation Commission – the very agency charged with its construction – has interpreted it to mean "decision" or "order" by virtue of S.C. Code Reg. 67-701. That regulation, having been properly promulgated in accordance with S.C. Code Ann. §

42-17-50, as well as the Administrative Procedures Act and S.C. Code Ann. § 42-3-30, is entitled to “full force and effect of law.”<sup>8</sup>

Regulation 67-701(A) states,

“[e]ither party or both may request Commission review of the Hearing Commissioner’s **decision** ... within fourteen days of the day the Commissioner’s **order** is received.” (emphasis added).

Neither Regulation 67-701, nor S.C. Code Ann. § 42-17-50, employs the term “final<sup>9</sup>,” nor do they in any way exclude intermediate decisions or orders from immediate review, yet the Court of Appeals resorted to such a forced construction in so limiting the Commission’s authority. Grazia v. S.C. State Plastering, LLC, 390 S.C. 562, 569, 703 S.E.2d 197, 200 (2010) (holding that the Court should not resort to subtle or forced construction to limit or expand a statute’s operation). It is because neither S.C. Code Ann. § 42-17-50, nor Regulation 67-701, require a decision or order be “final” that the Appellate Panel “commonly reviews intermediate orders,” as the Court of Appeals acknowledged.

It was previously well-settled that the “construction of a statute by the agency charged with its administration will be accorded the most respectful consideration and will not be

---

<sup>8</sup> See S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-10 (defining “regulation” as an “agency statement .. that implements or prescribes law or policy or practice requirements of any agency. Policy or guidance issued by an agency other than in a regulation does not have the force or effect of law.”)

<sup>9</sup> *Contra*, S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380, which “on its face ... refers to a ‘final judgment’...a well-established term of art in the law to which great significance is attached.” Bone v. U.S. Food Service, 404 S.C. 67, 744 S.E.2d 552 (2013).

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