THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

Appeal from the South Carolina
Workers' Compensation Commission

Appellate Case No. 2022-000519

Opinion No. 2022-UP-081
(S.C. Ct. App. Filed February 23, 2022)

RECEIVED
MAY 01 2023
S.C. SUPREME COURT

Gena Cain-Davis, Claimant, Respondent,

v.

SC Department of Corrections, Employer,
and State Accident Fund, Carrier, Petitioners

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Stephen B. Samuels
SAMUELS REYNOLDS LAW FIRM, LLC
1320 Richland St.
Columbia, SC 29201
(803) 779-4000
Stephen@SamuelsReynolds.com
S.C. Bar No. 15394

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

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

Following the initial pronouncement in Bone v. U.S. Food Serv., 404 S.C. 67, 744 S.E.2d 552 (2013), limiting appealability of the Commission's orders, this Court has attempted to elucidate clear standards in light of a series of cases highlighting the prejudice engendered by multiple arbitrary procedural rulings from the Commission. See, e.g., Russell; Hilton v. Flakeboard America

Limited, 418 S.C. 245, 791 S.E.2d 719 (2016)(“Under these unique circumstances where the Commission has ordered the relitigation of the entire dispute without regard to the matters raised by the appealing party, we find that requiring Hilton to wait until the final agency decision to appeal would not provide him an adequate remedy.”); Tucker v. S.C. Dep’t of Transp., 427 S.C. 299, 831 S.E.2d 426 (2019)(reversing commission’s denial of change of condition claim on procedural technicality because “If the parties reasonably need time to prepare, or to negotiate in good faith, the assigned commissioner—or an appellate panel on review—should allow it.”).

In the instant case, the Appellate Panel made three significant errors: (1) allowing Petitioners to appeal the Single Commissioner’s interlocutory order allowing the Form 50 to be dismissed without prejudice; (2) holding the Single Commissioner lacked jurisdiction to issue an Order; and (3) making findings of fact which would allow Petitioner to have the case dismissed with prejudice at a future hearing. The Court of Appeals correctly vacated all findings related to the withdrawal of the Form 50 “[b]ecause the single commissioner’s decision to allow Davis to withdraw her Form 50 hearing request without prejudice was not immediately appealable . . .” [A.p. 246].

The Full Commission’s finding that the Single Commissioner lacked jurisdiction to grant the request for withdrawal without prejudice is effectively a final order. If a subsequent single commissioner agrees with Petitioners’ argument or its anticipated corollary (res judicata or law of the case based on Finding of Fact 5), then Cain-Davis’s case will be dismissed with prejudice. As dismissal is the ultimate sanction, it should not be imposed so cavalierly. See McComas v. Ross, 626 S.E.2d 902, 368 S.C. 59 (Ct.App. 2006)(“In those cases where our supreme court has affirmed dismissal of actions based on a failure to prosecute, the dismissals were imposed to maintain the orderly disposition of cases in the face of repeated warnings to the offending party or multiple

opportunities to proceed with trial, and only then upon a finding of unreasonable neglect.”).

The post Bone cases show that significant procedural errors by the Commission must be subject to immediate appeal, lest the procedural errors frustrate the underlying purpose of swift and sure justice. Here the problem is more acute, for the Appellate Panel’s decision does not merely delay the proceedings; it could result in dismissal of the entire case. The Court of Appeals implicitly recognized that requiring Cain-Davis to wait until the final agency decision to appeal would not provide her an adequate remedy. See S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380 (2007)(“A preliminary, procedural, or intermediate agency action or ruling is immediately reviewable if review of the final agency decision would not provide an adequate remedy.”).

Petitioners further argue “the decision of the Court of Appeals should be vacated, and the appeal dismissed” because under Torrence “ respect for separation of powers demand that judicial review of an administrative decision not occur until the decision is . . . truly final.” [Brief of Petitioners, page 10, *quoting* Torrence v. S.C. Dept. of Corrections, 433 S.C. 224, 857 S.E.2d 549 (2021). Torrence provides no comfort for Petitioners. . This Court held the administrative order in Torrence was an appealable final order even though a remand was ordered.

Torrence is an important case as the Court recognized how “it is often challenging to determine when a seemingly interlocutory order is, in fact, a final decision and thus appealable. It is our hope today to provide some clarity.” Torrence at 227, 857 S.E.2d at 550.

The Torrence court held “The case before us today presents an exception to the typical situation, in that – despite the presence of a remand – the ALC’s decision was, in fact, final. *This is because the ALC ruled as a matter of law on the dispositive issues and granted the claimant the very relief he sought.*” Id. (emphasis added). This meant that the “the remand may be viewed as

ministerial or clerical, for SCDC was divested of any agency discretion; rather, it was SCDC's sole duty to enter the judgment as ordered by the ALC. Thus, here, the ALC 'determin[ed] the rights of the parties' with finality." Id.

As to the case at bar, Torrence shows that the mere presence of a remand does not turn a final order into an interlocutory order. Rather, the court must analyze whether the decision below "determined the rights of the parties with finality." Id.

The Appellate Panel found as a fact that:

Prior to going on the record at a hearing on October 24, 2017, the Claimant informed the Hearing (Single) Commissioner and the Defendants that she was withdrawing her second Form 50. Claimant's counsel admits in oral argument before the undersigned Commissioners that there was no discussion about whether the Form 50 withdrawal [sic] was with or without prejudice. [A.p. 28, Finding of Fact 5].

This finding, along with other findings and conclusions of law, means that Petitioners may have what they need to dismiss the case with prejudice. It is apparent from their arguments that they believe so. Conversely, restoring Commissioner Campbell's order means the parties can proceed to litigate the case on the merits. And, not insignificantly for bench and bar, it means that when a trial judge grants a continuance the moving party need not fear that an appellate court or appellate panel will overturn that ruling and dismiss the case with prejudice. See McLaughlin v. Strickland, 279 S.C. 513, 309 S.E.2d 787 (Ct. App. 1983)(finding that an order that effectively forecloses a party from contesting the case on the merits affects a substantial right and is immediately appealable).

The Court of Appeals was correct in vacating the Appellate Panel's Order. Therefore the Court should hold the Court of Appeals had appellate jurisdiction to review the order of the Appellate Panel.

2. The Court of Appeals correctly held an administrative order from a hearing commissioner granting a continuance or dismissing a pleading without prejudice is not directly appealable as a matter of law [In Reply to Petitioner's Argument at pages 11-15].

An administrative order granting a continuance and allowing a claimant to withdraw a Form 50 without prejudice is not appealable – not to the Appellate Panel nor to a higher court. The Court of Appeals correctly held the Hearing Commissioner's order was not appealable and vacated the Full Commission's order. The court reasoned:

The appellate panel commonly reviews intermediate orders that decide important issues in a contested workers' compensation case. It does so even though other parts of the case remain in active litigation or are not ripe for decision. This is not one of those orders. The single commissioner's order allowing Davis to withdraw the Form 50 without prejudice and returning the claim to the commission's general files is analogous to an order granting a continuance or denying a motion to dismiss. An order granting a continuance or denying a motion to dismiss is generally not immediately appealable.³ [A.P. 245].

There is nothing novel in this holding. It is based on firmly established law. See, e.g., Levi v. N. Anderson Cnty. EMS, 409 S.C. 374, 385, 762 S.E.2d 44, 50 (Ct.App. 2014)(single commissioner's order denying an employer's motion to dismiss not immediately appealable); Walker v. Springs Industries, Inc., 298 S.C. 249, 379 S.E.2d 729, (Ct.App. 1989)(single commissioner's order allowing

³Workers' compensation differs fundamentally from civil cases in that there may be multiple hearings with multiple decision over the life of a case (and indeed, some cases continue for the life of the injured worker). In civil cases, there is one trial and one verdict. In workers' compensation, there may be an initial Form 50 hearing on compensability, temporary compensation and medical treatment; a Form 15 hearing on whether temporary compensation was legally suspended; a Form 21 or Form 50 hearing to determine the extent of permanent disability and post-MMI medical treatment; or any of the myriad possible combinations. Our courts have consistently held orders from such hearings are final orders which may be immediately appealed from. See, e.g., Martin v. Rapid Plumbing, (Form 15 hearing where temporary compensation was illegally suspended). In the instant case, the Single Commissioner's administrative order was an unappealable interlocutory order as it merely granted a continuance. The fact the Appellate Panel reviewed and reversed that order effectively dismissing Cain-Davis's case means the Appellate Panel's order was immediately appealable.

a claimant to withdraw her hearing request without dismissing her underlying claim and returning the claim to the commission's files was interlocutory because it constituted an indefinite continuance of the case); Temples v. Ramsey, 285 S.C. 600, 330 S.E.2d, 558 (Ct. App.1985)("it is well-established that orders granting or denying motions for a continuance or a mistrial are not directly appealable.").

Petitioners argue, with no sense of irony, that the Appellate Panel had appellate authority to reverse Commissioner Campbell's administrative order yet simultaneously argue the Court of Appeals lacked appellate authority to review the Appellate Panel's Order. The essence of Petitioners argument is that § 42-17-50 and Regulation 67-701 give the Appellate Panel appellate jurisdiction to immediately review *any* "decision" made by a hearing commissioner. They accuse the Court of Appeals of "rewrit[ing] S.C. Code Ann. 42-17-50 and inject[ing] matters into it which are not in the legislature's language, which is plain error." The error, according to Petitioners, is to limit appeals within the Commission to "'final orders' or 'intermediate awards that decide important issues.'" [Brief of Petitioners, pages 13-14].

While it is true that the appellate courts give some level of deference to an agency's construction of its own regulations, this deference does not extend to abandoning the duty to correct the agency's errors of law. The Appellate Panel did not interpret either § 42-17-50 or regulation 67-701. It simply reversed the administrative order without addressing the propriety of hearing an appeal of an interlocutory order.

True to its moniker, the Appellate Panel sits in an appellate capacity. As with the appellate courts, "appeals from the single commissioner to the Appellate Panel must be from final orders." Levi v. N. Anderson Cnty. EMS, 409 S.C. 374, 762 S.E.2d 44 (Ct. App. 2014). Levi confirms that

Petitioners' argument is wholly misguided and incorrect.

To be immediately appealable, an order must involve the merits. An order which involves the merits is one that "must finally determine some substantial matter forming the whole or a part of some cause of action or defense." Mid-State Distribs., Inc. v. Century Importers, Inc., 310 S.C. 330, 336, 426 S.E.2d 777, 780 (1993). Any order, leaving some further act to be done by the commission before the rights of the parties are determined, is interlocutory and not final. Id. The order here is no more than an interim docketing order.

In Levi, the court addressed an appeal arising out of a motion to dismiss. Levi was involved in a work related car accident where she was rear-ended by a third party. Her employer accepted her claim, paid temporary total disability compensation, and provided back surgery. Levi accepted a payment of \$550.00 to settle her "pain and suffering" from the third party liability carrier.

Her employer filed a motion to dismiss her claim arguing the \$550.00 settlement without notice to the carrier as required by § 42-1-560 meant she had elected her remedy, thus barring her from recovering workers' compensation benefits. The Single Commissioner denied the motion to dismiss and ordered a hearing to determine if she had reached MMI or required additional medical treatment.

The employer appealed to the Appellate Panel. The Appellate Panel reversed, finding Levi had elected her remedy by settling the third-party case without complying with the notification statute.

Levi appealed to the Court of Appeals. In an extensively detailed opinion surveying case law from multiple jurisdictions, the court held "appeals from the single commissioner to the Appellate Panel must be from final orders." Levi v. N. Anderson Cnty. EMS, 409 S.C. 374, 762 S.E.2d 44 (Ct.

App. 2014)(emphasis added). The court noted that the term *award* means a “final judgment or decision.” Id. at 381, 762 S.E.2d at 380. The court also noted that the APA permits appeals only from “a final decision in a contested case.” Id. The court reasoned that to be a final order, an order must “establish the law of the case . . .” Levi noted that our supreme court “clarified that the issue is properly couched as one of appellate jurisdiction rather than subject matter jurisdiction.” Allison v. W.L. Gore & Associates, 394 S.C. 185, 187, 714 S.E.2d 547, 549 (2011). Neither the courts nor the Full Commission has jurisdiction to hear an appeal of an interlocutory order.

The Levi court concluded by stating:

The appeal from the single commissioner to the Appellate Panel was not from a final judgment and was interlocutory. The applicable statute provides for appeals from an award, which Black’s Law defines as a final decision, mandating that appeals only be from a final decision. Although the applicable regulation uses the term decision instead of award, a regulation cannot add to the statute. Therefore, an appeal must be from an award, not simply any decision.

* * *

In the case of Pait from North Carolina, after which our workers’ compensation system was originally modeled, the court affirmed the Appellate Panel’s dismissal of the appeal from the single commissioner for the order being interlocutory until the single commissioner issues a final opinion and award. Our supreme court has made clear in recent years with Bone that the circuit court (under the former statute), this court, and the supreme court cannot hear appeals from the Appellate Panel if it does not constitute a final decision. **A plain reading of the statute supports that appeals from the single commissioner to the Appellate Panel must be from final orders as well. . . . Accordingly, we vacate the Appellate Panel’s order and remand this matter to it for it to enter an order vacating Employer’s appeal to it.** Levi at 384-385, 762 S.E.2d at 50 (emphasis added).

Consistent with Levi, the Court of Appeals correctly held the Appellate Panel lacked appellate jurisdiction over Commissioner Campbell’s administrative order.

Petitioners further argue that their appeal to the Appellate Panel raised “important issues.” The granting of a continuance is far removed from an important issue. It is the very archetype of an

interlocutory order as it causes no prejudice to either party, excludes no evidence, and does not touch the merits of the case in any way, shape or form. The sole affect is to postpone a trial. As the Court of Appeals stated, “Interlocutory appellate tinkering tends to disrupt litigation’s forward progress.” This is why our courts uniformly hold such an order is not appealable.

The Court of Appeals correctly vacated the Appellate Panel’s order as the panel lacked appellate jurisdiction as a matter of black letter law.

3. The Hearing Commissioner retained Jurisdiction over the case at the time he issued the Administrative Order [in response to Petitioner’s argument at pages 15-23].

Petitioners combine two arguments: (1) whether the Hearing Commissioner had been divested of jurisdiction when he issued his administrative order; and (2) whether the Full Commission’s findings and conclusions are supported by substantial evidence and the applicable law.⁴

A. The Hearing Commissioner retained jurisdiction until he issued an order.

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